IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERMAINE FOSTER,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NUMBER SC03-1331

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FRANK J. BANKOWITZ Florida Bar No. 171977 126 E. Jefferson Street Orlando, FL 32801 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUES

- D. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR THEIR FAILURE TO RAISE AND ESTABLISH A VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE COUPLED WITH THE DEFENDANT'S MENTAL STATE TO SHOW A LACK OF REQUISITE INTENT TO COMMIT THE OFFENSE OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER
- E. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING, WITHOUT FURTHER HEARING TESTIMONY, THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR REHEARING ON THE BASIS OF THE NEWLY DECIDED CASES OF <u>ATKINS v. VIRGINIA</u>, 536 US 304 (2002) AND <u>RING v. ARIZONA</u>, 536 US 586 (2002)
- F. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT PERMITTING THE AMENDMENT OF THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE ON THE BASIS OF RACIAL BIAS AND PREJUDICE EXPRESSED BY DEFENDANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial of the Appellant's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence after an Evidentiary Hearing as well as a denial of Appellant's Motion For Rehearing Without Evidentiary Hearing.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in ruling that the Appellant's trial counsel adequately prepared and presented evidence of his mental defect as influenced by his voluntary intoxication at the time of the offense.

> 2. Further, the trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences as well as the denial of Appellant's Motion for Rehearing based on <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona, 536 US 586 (2002) and Atkins v. Virginia, 536 US 304</u> (2002) as decided by the Supreme Court after the Appellant's evidentiary hearing.

> 3. Lastly, the trial court erred in failing to permit the Appellant to amend his Motion for Post Conviction Relief on the basis of evidence of racial bias and prejudice on the part of Appellant's trial counsel, as newly discovered evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant, JERMAINE FOSTER, was convicted and sentenced to death for two murders and other related offenses. Foster v. State, 679 So2d 742 (FL 1996). This court has upheld this conviction. The defendant filed his initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief With Special Request for Leave to Amend on January 14, 1998 (R 29-76). On June 1, 2000 the defendant filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence (R 407-417) and Supplemental Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on September 25, 2000 (R 418-421). The trial court held a Huff Hearing on August 28, 2000 where the parties agreed to hold an evidentiary hearing, and a discovery timetable was established. The evidentiary hearing was held on January 30, 2002 through February 1, 2002 (R Volumes V, VI).

During the conducting of discovery in preparation for the evidentiary hearing, defense counsel met with Janet Vogelsang, who was retained by trial counsel to function as a mitigation expert and perform an investigation into the defendant's background, family history, and mental health. During her trial preparation, Vogelsang met with defense counsel on three brief occasions. During one of those meetings, one of the defense attorneys, Mr. Smallwood, was alleged to have made racially prejudicial statements.

Smallwood is alleged to have said, "mitigation would not matter and the defendant was just another nigger who killed two people and the jury would not believe it" (R 443, 448). These statements came to light during the discovery process and counsel believes this time frame was between September, 2001 and early November, 2001. At that time, Vogelsang was reluctant to come forward with such an accusation. According to Vogelsang's affidavit, she was not permitted to use visual aids and other materials necessary for an effective presentation in mitigation, which essentially meant that little or no mitigation was presented. As a result of the late 2001 conversations, post conviction counsel convinced the witness to put her allegations in the form of an Affidavit which was filed with the trial court as an Exhibit to JERMAINE FOSTER's Motion to Amend his Motion for Post Conviction Relief and add these allegations as a ground or basis for a new trial (R. 442-449). This motion was heard and denied by the trial court before the evidentiary hearing (R. 465-466).

At the evidentiary hearing, the defendant presented facts to establish JERMAINE FOSTER suffered from diminished capacity as well as organic brain damage and had an IQ of 75. Further, it was proven that he was intoxicated through the use of drugs and alcohol. His diminished capacity, exacerbated by the alcohol and drugs, prohibited him from forming the

specific intent necessary for a conviction of the offenses charged. The trial attorneys did not formally present an intoxication defense nor did they present it in mitigation along with the diminished capacity issues.

The testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that the defendant, JERMAINE FOSTER, was intoxicated and suffered from diminished mental capacity. LEONDER HENDERSON, a codefendant who was available to the defense team prior to and at FOSTER's trial, established the voluntary intoxication of the defendant beyond a doubt. HENDERSON testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was his and FOSTER's everyday regime to wake up about 9:00AM and smoke a joint (marijuana), then shower and smoke another joint, whereupon they would go out and sell drugs during the day in an area known as "The Hill". They would smoke another one or two joints on their way to the "Hill"; the place they sold drugs and would smoke marijuana intermittently, all day (R 653, 659, 663). This was what they did every day as well as on the day of the murders. HENDERSON further testified that they went to Kissimmee and used more marijuana prior to the murders (660). When they arrived in Kissimmee, they purchased a bottle of Christian Brothers brandy, which they also drank. HENDERSON knew FOSTER very well. They lived together and he knew how FOSTER acted when intoxicated and in his opinion that night,

FOSTER was intoxicated (R 672). Mr. Henderson's testimony was available to the defense team but never used or even explored.

At the evidentiary hearing, FOSTER called two recognized experts in Florida and nationally, Dr. Henry Dee, Ph.D., a neuropsychologist, and Dr. Jonathan Lipman, a Neuropharmacologist. Dr. Dee testified that he had done a number of tests on FOSTER to determine his intellectual ability and functioning as part of his testimony in mitigation, but only in mitigation. He never examined JERMAINE FOSTER until after the guilt phase of the trial, as he was not retained until two or three months prior to the actual trial; and he advised at the evidentiary hearing that had he been brought in a timely manner, he would have suggested a Toxicologist or Neuropharmacologist to evaluate FOSTER and would have specifically sought out Dr. Lipman. He would have made those recommendations had he been advised of the amounts of drugs and alcohol used by FOSTER during the time leading up to the offense and his history of use over the past years. Dr. Dee testified that his testing of FOSTER showed him, at best, to be a slow and even a dull FOSTER's neurological deficiencies were substantial and he individual. arguably was retarded or at least borderline mentally retarded (R 705) with a full score Intelligence Quotient of 75. Dr. Dee further testified that FOSTER's mental processes that night were very limited (R 739). The

doctor further advises that when one correlated the intellectual functions of FOSTER with the use of drugs (marijuana and crack cocaine) and alcohol he consumed on the day of the offenses and leading up to it, FOSTER's intellectual functions were going to be further compromised and significantly impaired, substantially impaired, if not obliterated (R 709). Further, that FOSTER would only know on reflection that he did something wrong and would not have that realization at the time of the act, but upon reflection only (R 709). The doctor also advised that JERMAINE FOSTER suffered from organic brain damage that further exacerbated his ability to function mentally.

At the evidentiary hearing, JERMAINE FOSTER also called Dr. Jonathan Lipman who testified as an expert that the organic brain damage found by Dr. Dee underlies JERMAINE FOSTER's deficiencies and this is what is important (R 757). Dr. Lipman calculated on the basis of the testimony of LEONDER HENDERSON and Gwen Lawson, both available at trial, as well as Dr. Dee's testing, that Jermaine Foster's blood alcohol level was .204 or about three times the legal limit to function normally at the time of the offense. This did not even include the drug consumption by FOSTER. Dr. Lipman further testified that a person who has pre-existing impairments, like Jermaine Foster, in their cognitive functioning, intellectual functioning and neuropsychological functioning, is going to be additionally impaired by drugs that are known to produce deficits in those particular functions, specifically marijuana, cocaine and alcohol (R 766). Jermaine Foster had an organic toxicity or state of brain impairment due to poisoning (R 765). Dr. Lipman testified that a neuropsychologist and toxicologist should have been brought into the Foster case at the guilt phase (R 769). But it is clear one was not even considered by Mr. Smallwood's testimony that they "just didn't do it".

Although not available at trial, therefore considered newly discovered evidence, is the testimony of Gerald Booker. He testified that he was the leader of this band that night. (R 839-840, 841). That he told Jermaine Foster to "do them" (R 843). This factor is important in light of Dr. Dee's testimony about Jermaine Foster's mental functions and that he would do what he was told by Booker since he looked up to him and thought of him as a role model. Further, that given his state of intoxication and admiration of Booker, he did what he was told.

JERMAINE FOSTER did exactly what he was told to do by Mr. BOOKER. BOOKER provided him with the gun and ordered him to kill the witnesses. Yet, Mr. BOOKER received a life sentence and JERMAINE FOSTER was sentenced to death.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES OF DEATH DUE TO COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS IN FAILING TO PRESENT A DEFENSE OF VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE APPELLANT'S MENTAL DISABILITY

The trial court determined, in its ruling denying the Appellant's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences of Death, that <u>Chestnut v. State</u>, 538 So2d 820 (Fla 1989) was controlling law in the State of Florida and therefore the Appellant's trial counsel acted properly and did not provided ineffective counsel to the Appellant, by not preparing a defense for Mr. FOSTER which included voluntary intoxication as it was affected by mental disability.

The State of Florida has for one hundred years permitted evidence of voluntary intoxication concerning a defendant's mental state. <u>Garner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 9 SO. 835 (1891). Now the cases of <u>Chestnut v. State</u>, 538 So2d 820 (FL 1989), <u>Bias v. State</u>, 653 So2d 380 (Fla. 1995) and <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So2d 817 (Fla 1984) must be assessed and reviewed when discussing

mental defect and intoxication. The trial court seeks to justify its ruling by saying that the voluntary intoxication of Jermaine Foster was presented in opening statements by defense counsel by advising the jury that FOSTER was smoking marijuana and drinking gin (R 535), and by getting a jury instruction as to voluntary intoxication, as well as raising it in closing argument. This type of analysis is critically flawed in that the court instructs the jury that what the attorneys argue in opening statements and closing arguments is not evidence. How then can a mere statement, without evidence, in an opening statement and closing argument be sufficient evidence to establish effectiveness of counsel? It cannot.

In Florida "when specific intent is an element of the crime charged, evidence of voluntary intoxication, or for that matter evidence of any condition relating to the ability to form a specific intent is relevant" Gurganus v. State, 451 So2d 817 (Fla 1984), Circan v. State, 201 So2d 706 (Fla 1967) and <u>Garner</u>, supra. The trial court follows the State's argument that <u>Chestnut</u>, supra is controlling law (at the time of the offense) and that diminished capacity evidence (alone) is inadmissible to negate specific intent. This may be true, but in this case, we have much more than mere diminished capacity; have voluntary intoxication coupled with we diminished capacity bordering on mental retardation. The Chestnut court

was obviously a divided court. Justices Grimes, Erlich, McDonald and Shaw concurred and Overton, Barkett and Kogan dissented. In light of this Court's later ruling in Bias v. State, 653 So2d 380 (FL 11995), the dissent in Chestnut appears to be the more well-reasoned argument specifically since bias is a unanimous decision of the court. Further, <u>Chestnut</u> did not have the added factors of drugs and alcohol to further deepen Chestnut's mental disability. The defense experts in <u>Chestnut</u> relied only on his intelligence being in the lower fifth percentile of the general population. In this case, FOSTER was placed in the lower sixth percentile coupled with the alcohol and drug ingestion (R 705). Evidence of any condition relating to the accused's ability to form a specific intent is relevant, Gurganus, supra. The clear majority of jurisdictions have held that organic brain damage such as Foster's, is admissible at least in first-degree murder cases on the issue of specific intent. See People v. Wingo, 14 Cal. 3d 169, 534 P.2d 1001, 121 Cal. Rptr. 97 (1975); Beckstead v. People, 133 Colo. 72, 292 P.2d 189 (1956); State v. Burge, 195 Conn. 232, 487 A.2d 532 (1985); State v. Clokey, 83 Idaho 322, 364 P.2d 159 (1961); Wilson v. State, 263 Ind. 469, 333 N.E.2d 755 (1975); State v. Plowman, 386 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa Ct.App. 1986); Todd v. Commonwealth, 716 S.W.2d 242 (Ky. 1986); Commonwealth v. Grey, 399 Mass. 469, 505 N.E.2d 171 (1987); People v.

Mangiapane, 85 Mich. App. 379, 271 N.W.2d 240 Ct.App.19780; State v. Anderson, 515 S.W.2d 534 (Mo.1974); Starkweather v. State, 167 Neg.477, 93 N.W.2d 619 (1958); State v. Roman, 168 N.J. Super.344, 403 A.2d 24 (Super.Ct.App.Div. 1979); State v. Holden, 85 N.M. 397, 512 P.2d 970 (Ct.App.), cert. denied, 85 N.M. 380, 512 P.2d 953 (1973); People v. Morales, 125 A.D.2d 605, 509 N.Y.S.2d 658 (1986), appeal denied, 70 N.Y.2d 651, 518 N.Y.S.2d 1044, 512 N.E.2d 570 (1987), State v. Nichols, 3 Ohio App.2d 182, 209 N.E.2d 750 (CT.App.1965); State v. Schleigh, 210 Or.155, 310P.2d 341 (1957); Commonwealth v. Terry, 513 Pa. 381, 521 A.2d 398, cert. denied, 482 U.S. 920, 107 S.Ct. 3198, 96 L.Ed.2d 685 (1987); State v. Correra, 430A.2d 1251 IR.I. 1981); Cowles v. State, 510 S.W.2d 608 (Tex.Crim.App.1974); State v. Romero, 684 P.2d 643 (Utah 1984); State v. Smith, 136 Vt. 520, 396 A.2d 126 (1978); State v. Edmon, 28Wash.App. 98,621 P.2d 1310 (1981); State v. Flattum, 122 Wgis.2d, 361 N.W.2d 705 (1985); Kind v. State, 595 P.2d 960 (Wyo.1979). The deficiencies of these attorneys in not having the defendant examined in a timely manner and not raising specific defenses was prejudicial to JERMAINE FOSTER and constitutes ineffectiveness under the Constitution.

By not having the Appellant examined in a timely manner and not raising these specific intent defenses, the Appellant was prejudiced and that prejudice constitutes ineffectiveness. It cannot be said by talking about it in opening and closing and getting a jury instruction counsel satisfied his duty to fully and adequately represent a person charged with First Degree The experts called at the evidentiary hearing testified that the Murder. extent of the Appellant's intoxication, coupled with his mental retardation, is tantamount to insanity at the time of the offenses. Yet the trial court ignores the experts. The State argues that the state of the law at the time of the trial prohibits defense counsel from raising the defenses argued by the Appellant in the Evidentiary Hearing. Since the trial court, at the actual trial gave a voluntary intoxication jury instruction, it is apparent that at the time, evidence of voluntary intoxication was permissible. Defense counsel had the ability to raise these defenses even without calling the Appellant to the stand. This conduct cannot be reasoned or based upon a tactical decision. Had they had the Appellant examined before the guilt phase, they could have used the available testimony of Leondra Henderson and Gwen Lawson as to the ingestion of drugs and alcohol thereby establishing the voluntary intoxication and the evidence of any condition relating to Foster's ability to form specific intent would have been relevant. It would be at this point Dr. Dee and Dr. Lipman could have testified as to the joint effect of the drugs and alcohol combination coupled with his mental retardation. This was not

done or even contemplated. Trial attorneys, especially capital defense attorneys, have a duty to investigate their case and not necessarily rely on the client for information, which is what these attorneys did in the preparation of this case. Part of this preparation and investigation is the examination of the defendant by one or more experts before trial, not after the guilt phase is completed. This examination, had it been done before trial, would have shown organic brain damage coupled with the constant, daily ingestion of mind altering drugs and alcohol. Not to do it must be negligence, it must be deemed ineffectiveness and it does meet the tests enunciated in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 US 669 (1984).

The trial court, in ruling on appellant's motions says, "Trial counsel cannot be faulted for not raising a non-meritorious defense..." (R 520) But in so concluding, the court ignores the fact that it must look not only at the mental defect issue, but the intoxication issue as well, as they compliment and contaminate each other. It is the combination that makes the Appellant's point meritorious and trial counsel's performance ineffective. Had trial counsel had the Appellant examined prior to trial and considered the combination of mental retardation and consumption of alcohol and drugs, that defense could have been raised and presented by experts. The defense called no one. The experts called at the evidentiary hearing clearly

established a defense for Jermaine Foster. When Dr. Dee testified that given the intellectual impairments present, Foster's intellectual functioning and the use of alcohol and drugs that Foster was "significantly impaired, substantially impaired and did not know right from wrong." This type of evidence establishes an insanity defense. Had trial counsel taken the time and effort to retain an expert early, specifically Dr. Dee, and had the Appellant been properly examined before trial, these factors would have been known, and a proper, meaningful defense raised on the Appellant's behalf.

There appears to be a direct correlation between the defense's lack of preparation and the statements attributed to Mr. Smallwood, by Janet Vogelsang, the clinical social worker retained to be a mitigation expert. These statements clearly show racial bias and prejudice (R 448). Although counsel denied making said statements, the type of diligence in the preparation of the case makes that type of statement much more believable and very relevant to the amount of preparation and method of preparation of the attorneys.

The Appellant would argue that the lack of preparation on the part of defense counsel, in not timely retaining experts, not timely having the Appellant examined properly and thoroughly, led to his conviction and

sentence of death. The Appellant prays that this Court sees through the facade of what was or was not existing case law and look at the totality of the circumstances. The Appellant had a viable defense and it was not raised or even explored. The combination of his mental disability/retardation coupled with the amount of intoxicants ingested clearly made the Appellant incompetent at the time of the offense. The uncontroverted experts called at the evidentiary hearing both say, and confirm, that had they been brought into the case in a timely, pre-trial manner, they could have established a defense for Jermaine Foster. This surely casts doubt on the reliability of the verdict and clearly casts doubt on the reliability of the sanctions of death. For this reason alone, the judgments and sentence of death should be reversed and a new trial ordered.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A REHEARING ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR REHEARING BASED ON THE NEWLY DECIDED CASES OF <u>RING</u> AND <u>ATKINS</u>

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