IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERMAINE FOSTER,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC03-1331

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE BARBARA C. DAVIS FLORIDA BAR # 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point I: Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a diminished capacity/voluntary intoxication defense. Counsel did raise voluntary intoxication and received a jury instruction on that defense. The prevailing Florida law at the time was that "diminished capacity" evidence was not admissible. The facts and Appellant's confession show he had the requisite mental state not only to commit first-degree murder but also to establish the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated. The testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing was cumulative to that at trial, the testimony of the two co-defendants regarding intoxication was not available at the time of trial.

Point II: This issue is procedurally barred. Mental retardation was raised in Claim II on direct appeal as supporting statutory mitigating factors. <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), is not retroactive. Appellant has not satisfied any burden with regard to demonstrating he meets the definition of mentally retarded found in the Section 921.137, Florida Statues (2001) and the DSM-IV-TR. There is no evidence of onset of retardation before age 18, nor is there evidence of deficient adaptive functioning. Appellant relied solely on his full IQ score of 75. The cut-off to consider

retardation is IQ of 70. An additional evidentiary hearing was not required on this issue. All facts on which appellant relies were already explored at the evidentiary hearing.

Point III: This issue is procedurally barred as outside the one-year time limitation of Rule 3.850. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion to amend the postconviction motion. This is not "newly discovered evidence." The information which is the subject of this amended point was known to Janet Vogelsang in 1993. This motion is a successive motion and is barred. Collateral counsel could have discovered the statement through due diligence. In any case, collateral counsel failed to proffer the evidence so the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ESTABLISH A VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE WHICH, COUPLED WITH DIMINISHED CAPACITY, WOULD SHOW A LACK OF THE REQUISITE INTENT TO COMMIT FIRST-DEGREE MURDER

This claim was raised in Appellant's supplemental motion. The trial court denied the claim, acknowledging *Bias v. State*, 653 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1995). The trial judge found claim had no merit for several reasons:

(1) Bias was decided well after Appellant's trial and trial counsel followed Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1989), the law at the time (R 533);

(2) trial counsel did pursue a voluntary intoxication defense and the jury was instructed on voluntary intoxication (R 534-535);

(3) Appellant could remember the details of the robberies and murders, articulated his reasons for killing the victims, and never indicated he was intoxicated (R 535-536);

(4) trial counsel made a strategical decision that Appellant should not testify as to alcohol and drug consumption because the State had a tape recording in which Appellant and the co-defendant discussing raising a voluntary intoxication defense (R 537);

(5) co-defendants Booker and Catholic were not available to testify at trial (R 540); (Appellant acknowledges this, but claims the fact these witnesses are now available is "newly discovered evidence." (Initial Brief at 9))

(6) Appellant gave only limited information to trial counsel (R 540); and

(7) Appellant's actions the night of the murder contradicted intoxication (R 540).

The trial judge found not only that counsel was not deficient, but also that there was no prejudice (R 541).

The evidence presented at trial and Appellant's account of the events of the evening in his confession contradict the claim he did not have the requisite mental state to commit premeditated murder. Appellant was arrested on December 1st. He was read his Miranda rights (TT⁶ 2680). He advised that he understood them and appeared to understand them. He did not appear to be under the influence of any alcohol or drugs. He was not promised anything, threatened or coerced (TT 2681). A summary of Appellant's statement made at the Polk County Sheriff's Office was read into the record as follows:

Appellant indicated that on November 28, 1992, he was wearing dark blue or blue black jeans, a black sweatshirt with a hood, green Reebok sneakers, a red, white and blue New York Giants baseball cap and fruit gloves with rubber-like lumps to prevent leaving fingerprints. He learned three black males riding in a red truck from West Palm were trying to sell dope. Appellant got a handgun and went there. He participated in

⁶"TT" indicates the cite is from the original trial transcript. Cites to the present record on appeal are "R." Cites to the Original penalty phase are "PP."

the \$28.00 robbery of the three males (TT 2782). Some dope and the red Ford truck were also taken. After dark he rode in the truck to Haines City to rob dope dealers. None could be located as everyone was at a football game in Tampa. He drove by one dealer's house named Sam and the residence of Sam's mother. Had Sam been home he would have robbed him. He then rode in the truck to Kissimmee to the projects. By the time he got there the engine was smoking. He had armed himself with a Uzi in Polk County but when he got to Kissimmee he carried a 9mm handgun. He met some girls and rode with them to a club called St. Cloud. When they got to the club the truck was smoking again (TT 2783).

Appellant stayed at the club about two hours. He saw four people, three white boys and a black girl get into a Nissan Pathfinder outside of the bar. He had never seen them before. He believed the males had a lot of money. He waited in the red truck until they left in the Pathfinder. He followed the Pathfinder from the bar. The red truck struck the back of the Pathfinder. Some of the people got out of the Pathfinder to check for damages, after which, the people got into the Pathfinder. Both vehicles stopped in a field after the red truck again developed mechanical problems. The black female was crying and asked him if she was going to be left in

the field. He told her she could not go with him. He did not know her (TT 2784). The white males were laying on the ground naked with their drawers on their head. Appellant initially stated he did not shoot the males and claimed he walked away from the people and the truck toward the main road, just to be walking, when he heard three gunshots. He got in the Pathfinder and went to Polk County. When asked where he had been riding after the Pathfinder had been taken and the victims were still in the Pathfinder, Appellant repeatedly denied having been a passenger in the Pathfinder with the victims. He emphatically stated he had been a passenger in the red Ford truck. He then acknowledged that he had participated in robbing the males.

Appellant then admitted that he was the one who shot and killed the two males. He stated he was the only one who shot the three males. He did not shoot the girl because she was a female and black. He stated that he used a 9mm handgun in the shooting. Appellant continued to deny having been a passenger in the Pathfinder with the victims after he had admitted to being the person who had shot each of the male victims. Appellant stated "That's all I did. That's all. I just pulled the trigger." (TT 2785-86).

There was other evidence of planning and premeditation in addition to Appellant's statement. Before the shootings, Appellant announced to Catholic he was "going to do it." (TT 2093). Appellant was quite aware of what he had done and announced to friend shortly after the shootings that "I fucked up." (TT 2718-19) Appellant's activities the entire evening showed a level of awareness which contradicts the lack-ofmental-state argument. When Booker first went to Appellant's trailer, Appellant said he would help Booker and went to get some pump shotguns (TT 1993). Booker, Henderson and Appellant went to rob people in order to re-pay Booker's debt (TT 1989). They successfully robbed some drug dealers and stole a truck (TT 2008-2017). Stolen equipment was loaded into Appellant's car (TT 2010). Appellant and Catholic sold the cocaine stolen from the victims (TT 2024). They then decided to rob some more people (TT 2026).

Appellant and Booker purchased gloves for the robbery (TT 2033). They discussed a plan to rob three men at the Palms Bar (TT 2064). Appellant showed some reservation because he did not know what the men "got", i.e., whether they were carrying weapons. Appellant stated that if the men didn't have money, he was going to kill them (TT 2064). It was Appellant who called one victim a "smart ass" (TT 2079).

It was Appellant who told the victims "Ya'll ain't got no money; put your drawers on your head." Appellant said "Man, I got to kill them - man, they ain't got no money" (TT 2084). Appellant told the victims to lay down (TT 2082). Then he shot the victims in the head (TT 2753-2754, 2083). As they were leaving the scene, Appellant repeated that he had to kill the victims because they had no money (TT 2349). Appellant advised the co-defendants not to tell anyone what happened (TT 2596). He told Corey Lisbon he "Fucked up and you ain't going to see me around for awhile." (TT 2596). Appellant then planned to flee to Georgia (TT 2597).

There was no case law available to Defendant's trial attorneys which would have authorized introduction of evidence of diminished mental capacity, even in the context of a voluntary intoxication defense⁷. Donald Smallwood, the defense attorney who focused on representing Defendant in the guilt phase, testified that at the time of the trial he was not aware of any case law to support such a strategy. (R 868-869). The performance of a defense attorney must be judged by the professional standards in effect <u>at the time the attorney</u> <u>represented the defendant.</u> The failure to present a novel

⁷The voluntary intoxication defense was eliminated as an affirmative defense. *See* § 775.051, Fla. Stat. (1999), effective October 1, 1999.

legal argument not established as meritorious in the jurisdiction of the court to whom one is arguing does not constitute ineffective assistance of legal counsel. *See Steinhorst v. Wainwright*, 477 So. 2d 537, 540 (Fla. 1985).

the only available source Leondre Henderson was for evidence to support a voluntary intoxication defense. Co-Defendants Booker and Catholic were not available to the Both testified that at the time of Mr. Foster's defense. trial, they had pending charges and had exercised their right to remain silent. (R 825, 847). Defendant himself was not available to the defense. Defendant's attorneys wisely decided that Defendant could not be called to testify on his behalf. Unfortunately, as Mr. Henderson's hearing own testimony demonstrated, he was a poor source of evidence to show that Defendant was under the influence of psychotropic drugs at the time of the shootings. At the evidentiary hearing Henderson testified that he did not see Defendant using cocaine until after the shootings. (R 680). In fact, Henderson, who lived with Defendant, did not see Defendant use cocaine in the four months leading up to the shootings. (R 677-Although Henderson knew that he and Defendant had 680). smoked marijuana on the day of the shootings, he was not clear on exactly how much was used. Henderson could not recall if

Defendant had smoked marijuana at Catholic's house that day (R 666) nor could he recall if Defendant used marijuana at the girls' home where he and the other Co-defendants went on the night of the murders. (R 662). Henderson also could not recall Defendant smoking marijuana at the club, just before the shootings. (R 671). Henderson did testify that Defendant was in the car with the girls on the way from their home to a club, and that there was brandy in that vehicle. (R 668). Henderson's testimony at the evidentiary hearing was cumulative to his trial testimony.

At the guilt phase, as to marijuana, Henderson only testified that Catholic had told him that "they were badding it"(meaning smoking a lot of marijuana) on the way from the girls house to the bar. (TT 2165). However Henderson was in another vehicle, so he did not know if, or how much Defendant drank or smoked on the way to the club. Henderson also did not testify at the hearing how much, if any, brandy was used by Defendant at the club (TT 2056). Defendant did not demonstrate at the evidentiary hearing that Mr. Henderson was a good source of evidence to support a voluntary intoxication defense.

It is significant that Dr. Johnathan Lipman, the toxicologist Defendant called at the hearing, did not mention

Mr. Henderson as a source of the information he used to make his calculations. He mentioned Catholic and Booker. (R 762-Lipman conceded that if the information from 763). Booker and Catholic had been unavailable to him, this would have impaired his ability to form the opinion he expressed at the evidentiary hearing. (R 780). Lipman also conceded that his ultimate conclusion about Defendant depended upon the supposition that he used cocaine before the shootings. (R 782).

Defendant failed at the hearing to show that Lipman could have been of any value if he had been called. Lipman's conclusions were founded on evidence which defendant's trial attorneys did not have available to present. It is illogical to hold Defendant's trial attorney's responsible for failing to call an expert who whose testimony would have depended on evidence which was not available at the time of the trial.

Dr. Dee was also not a good source of information about drug use. First, the evidence of Defendant's drug use which Dee attempted to introduce at the penalty phase hearing was objected to as hearsay. (PP 337). The judge then instructed the jury that Dee's testimony was not to be considered as valid evidence of the fact that Defendant had actually used drugs on the day of the shootings. (PP 340 - 41). If Dee had

been called at the guilt phase, it is likely that the same thing would have happened at that point, or that Dee would not have been allowed to testify at all. Second, Dee testified that Defendant told him that he had not used any cocaine on the day of the crime. (PP 369). Dee relied on second-hand information from the defense investigator to conclude that Defendant had used cocaine. (PP 370). Dee testified at the penalty phase that Defendant had told him that he drank "3 cups" of alcohol in the hours leading up to the shootings, but that time Dee was unsure how many ounces that referred to. at (PP 375). Dee also testified that in his opinion Defendant was habituated to the consumption of alcohol, and that it would take more alcohol to have an effect on a person habituated to alcohol. (PP 420). In contrast to the "three cups" amount relied upon by Dr. Dee, Henderson had testified at the guilt phase trial that he had seen Defendant drinking a cup of brandy with coca-cola once after the group arrived at the Palms Bar, and once later when they went out for another cup. (TT 2056 -57). However, Henderson later agreed that Defendant had only consumed "a full glass" of the Brandy. (TT Per Henderson, It was just after or while consuming 2166). this second cup that Defendant cautioned Booker that it would not be wise to rob the bar because "we don't know what those

boys got in there." (TT 2059). This indication of wise counsel was hardly evidence to show that Defendant's cognitive abilities had been compromised.

is evident that the slim evidence of Defendant's Tt. consumption of psychotropic substances led the trial court to find that at the time of the shootings Defendant was only "to some extent under the influence of drugs and alcohol during the murders." Significantly, the trial court did not find that statutory mitigator, that Defendant the was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime, had been proved. Clearly, the paucity of evidence showing that Defendant was under the influence of drugs and alcohol led the Court to discount the statutory mitigator relating to Defendant's mental state at the time of the crime. The Court failed to find this mitigator even though Dee had opined that there was sufficient evidence to support it. (PP 344-45).

If there was insufficient underlying evidence to prove this mitigator, there clearly would not have been sufficient evidence to prove voluntary intoxication either, even with supporting expert testimony. The voluntary intoxication defense required that the jury find that Defendant was so intoxicated that he was incapable of forming a premeditated

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